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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

SONYA LANCASTER ZOLLICOFFER,
c/o JD Howlette Law Case No. 8:24-cv-00679-TDC
1140 3rd St. NE, Suite 2180
Washington, DC 20002
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff,

V.

MATTHEW SLEDGESKI,
c/o Office of Law
2660 Riva Road, 4th Floor
Annapolis, MD 21401

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE,
PRINCE GEORGE’S COUNTY, MD,
LODGE 89, INC.,

2905 Old Largo Road

Upper Marlboro, MD 20772

Defendants.
/

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Sonya Lancaster Zollicoffer (“Ms. Zollicoffer”), for her amended complaint

against Defendants Matthew Sledgeski (“Defendant Sledgeski”’) and the Fraternal Order of

Police, Prince George’s County, Maryland, Lodge 89, Inc. (“Defendant FOP”), alleges the

following:

1. For over two decades, Ms. Zollicoffer dedicated her life to serving and protecting

the people of Prince George's County as a police officer. She rose through the ranks, overcoming

systemic racism and sexism, to become one of the few African-American female lieutenants in

the Prince George’s County Police Department (“PGCPD”).
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2. But when Ms. Zollicoffer dared to speak out against the ingrained discrimination
and retaliation plaguing the Department, she found herself silenced not by those she sought to
hold accountable, but by the very attorneys entrusted to advocate for her rights. This case lays
bare a disturbing betrayal of justice: a decorated officer, fighting for equality and integrity in law
enforcement, was strong-armed into settling her righteous claims by those who should have been
her staunchest allies.

3. Ms. Zollicoffer now stands before this Court, not only to reclaim her voice and
her rights, but to expose a system that continues to fail officers of color and the communities
they serve. Her story is not just one of personal injustice, but a critical call to address the deeper,
systemic issues that persist in our institutions of law and order.

4. Ms. Zollicoffer brings this action to seek justice not only for herself but also to
address the broader issues of discrimination and retaliation within the PGCPD, and to hold
accountable those who compromised her rights during the settlement of her prior lawsuit.

5. Ms. Zollicoffer claims arise under the Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. 8
1983, and the laws of the State of Maryland.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §8 1331 and 1343(a)
because this case involves questions of federal law and because Ms. Zollicoffer seeks damages
for violations of her civil rights.

7. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims under
28 U.S.C. 8 1367 because the claims form part of the same case or controversy under Article 111
of the United States Constitution. The state law claims share all common operative facts with

Ms. Zollicoffer’s federal law claims, and the parties are identical. Resolving Ms. Zollicoffer’s
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federal and state claims in a single action serves the interests of judicial economy, convenience,
consistency, and fairness to the parties.

8. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a
substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Ms. Zollicoffer’s claims herein occurred
within this judicial district. Venue is also proper in this Court under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3)
because the unlawful employment practices were committed in this judicial district, the relevant
employment records are maintained in this judicial district, and there is no other judicial district
that has substantial connection to Plaintiff’s claims.

THE PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Sonya Lancaster Zollicoffer is an African American female and a former
Lieutenant with the Prince George’s County Police Department. She resides within Prince
George’s County, Maryland.

10. Defendant Matthrew Sledgeski was, at all relevant times, employed by the Anne
Arundel County Police Department. Defendant Sledgeski was assigned to conduct an internal
affairs investigation into a case involving Ms. Zollicoffer. Upon information and belief,
Defendant Sledgeski resides within Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

11.  Defendant Fraternal Order of Police, Prince George’s County, Maryland, Lodge
89, Inc. is a labor organization representing law enforcement officers employed by the PGCPD.
As the recognized bargaining unit for PGCPD officers, Defendant FOP is responsible for
providing legal representation to its members in disciplinary proceedings and other employment-
related matters. In this capacity, Defendant FOP assigned legal counsel to represent Ms.

Zollicoffer in her disciplinary proceedings and during portions of her discrimination case.
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Defendant FOP’s principal place of business is located at 2905 Old Largo Road, Upper
Marlboro, MD 20772.
Background

12. Ms. Zollicoffer joined the PGCPD in 2001. Despite her exemplary service record,
Ms. Zollicoffer faced numerous instances of race-based discriminatory treatment throughout her
career. In addition to her own mistreatment, Ms. Zollicoffer witnessed multiple instances of
disparate treatment towards officers of color within the PGCPD by managers and supervisors,
including unfair disciplinary actions, denial or delayed promotions, and racially offensive work
environments.

13. In 2015, Ms. Zollicoffer was transferred to PGCPD’s Internal Affairs Division
(“IAD”), where she observed firsthand the systemic discrimination in PGCPD’s disciplinary
processes against officers of color.

14.  When Ms. Zollicoffer spoke out against the discriminatory practices, she faced
negative repercussions, including increased scrutiny of her work, and attempts to undermine her
authority.

15. In 2018, despite her qualifications and experience, Ms. Zollicoffer was
involuntarily transferred out of the 1AD to a less desirable position in PGCPD’s Patrol Bureau.
Ms. Zollicoffer was transferred because she spoke out against the IAD’s discriminatory
practices, which included filing a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission.

16. Ms. Zollicoffer’s experiences of discrimination and retaliation were not isolated
incidents, but part of a broader pattern of systemic racism within PGCPD that affected numerous

officers of color.
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17. In December 2018, to vindicate her rights and expose the broader pattern of
systemic racism within the PGCPD, Ms. Zollicoffer, together with several other officers of color
employed by the PGCPD, filed a discrimination lawsuit against Prince George’s County,
advancing claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and the
Rehabilitation Act (HNLEA, et al. v. Prince George’s County, et al., Case No. 8:18-cv-03821)
(hereinafter referred to as the “HNLEA Case™).

18. In the HNLEA Case, Ms. Zollicoffer was represented by Arnold & Porter Kaye
Scholer, LLP (“Arnold & Porter”). Ms. Zollicoffer communicated exclusively with Joanna
Wasik and Dennis Corkery, two attorneys employed by Arnold & Porter.

19. From the beginning of the lawsuit, Ms. Zollicoffer made clear to Ms. Wasik and
Mr. Corkery that she wanted her case heard by a jury because she believed that a jury trial would
not only vindicate her personal rights but also shine a light on the broader issues of systemic
discrimination within PGCPD.

20. Ms. Zollicoffer repeatedly made clear to Ms. Wasik that she felt that settling the
case would neither adequately address her grievances nor bring about the systemic changes she
sought within PGCPD.

21. Despite her repeated requests, Ms. Zollicoffer was unduly pressured to accept a
settlement offer that she did not want to accept.

The HNLEA Case and the Settlement Procured by Duress

22. On June 29, 2021, the parties in the HNLEA Case participated in a remote
mediation session on Zoom. The mediation concluded without reaching a resolution.

23. Following the conclusion of the mediation, Ms. Zollicoffer was informed by her

attorneys that Prince George’s County had proposed several different settlement offers. In
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response to each of the settlement offers, Ms. Zollicoffer made clear that she was not interested
in settling and that she wanted to have her case heard by a jury.

24.  OnJuly 7, 2021, the President of HNLEA, Joe Perez, called Ms. Zollicoffer to try
to persuade her to agree to the pending settlement offer. Mr. Perez told Ms. Zollicoffer that the
other ten plaintiffs had accepted their individual settlement offers, and that Ms. Zollicoffer was
holding up the final settlement agreement. Ms. Zollicoffer told Mr. Perez that she was not
interested in a settlement.

25.  OnlJuly 9, 2021, Mr. Perez called Ms. Zollicoffer and attempted to persuade her
to accept the settlement offer. Mr. Perez said that “they received everything they wanted” as far
as policy reform, and asked Ms. Zollicoffer to accept the offer so that the matter could “be
brought to an end.” In response, Ms. Zollicoffer again stressed that she was not interested in
accepting a settlement offer and that she wanted to proceed to trial.

26.  OnJuly 14, 2021, at approximately 1:00 p.m., Ms. Wasik called Ms. Zollicoffer
and attempted to persuade her to agree to the settlement offer. Ms. Zollicoffer made clear to Ms.
Wasik that she had no interest in entering into a settlement agreement. The phone call lasted a
total of 31 minutes.

27.  OnJuly 14, 2021, at approximately 3:56 p.m., Mr. Perez called Ms. Zollicoffer to
persuade her to accept the settlement offer. Upon information and belief, prior to calling Ms.
Zollicoffer, Mr. Perez spoke with Ms. Wasik about Ms. Zollicoffer’s unwillingness to agree to
the County’s settlement offer.

28. On July 15, 2021, at approximately 11:09 a.m., Ms. Wasik called Ms. Zollicoffer
to persuade her to accept the settlement offer. Ms. Wasik informed Ms. Zollicoffer that Prince

George’s County had increased its monetary offer to her specifically, and that with the new
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increased amount, Ms. Zollicoffer would be receiving more than any other plaintiff. The phone
call lasted 39 minutes.

29.  OnJuly 16, 2021, at approximately 4:55 p.m. and 4:59 p.m., Ms. Wasik attempted
to reach Ms. Zollicoffer to discuss the pending settlement offer. At approximately 9:59 p.m., Ms.
Wasik spoke with Ms. Zollicoffer and told her that Arnold & Porter would be unable to continue
to represent her from a financial standpoint if she did not settle. In response, Ms. Zollicoffer said,
“So you’re forcing me to settle?” Based on their conversation, Ms. Zollicoffer reluctantly
accepted the settlement offer out of fear that Arnold & Porter would cease representing her in the
lawsuit.

30.  Arnold & Porter did not explain to Ms. Zollicoffer that any request to withdraw
from the representation would need to be reviewed and approved by the Court.

31.  Arnold & Porter did not explain to Ms. Zollicoffer that the settlement would
preclude her from vindicating her rights in connection with a separate internal investigation case
commenced against her by the PGCPD in 2019 (i.e., SI-2019-077), which was pending at the
time of the settlement. Had Ms. Zollicoffer been informed of such, she would have never agreed
to settle.

32.  Arnold & Porter prioritized the expediency of settlement over Ms. Zollicoffer’s
express desire to proceed to trial, without adequately considering or respecting Ms. Zollicoffer’s
legal objectives.

The Unjust Internal Affairs Investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer
33. During the litigation in the HNLEA Case, the PGCPD separately commenced an

Internal Affairs investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer.
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34. In October 2017, Ms. Zollicoffer was assigned to the Administrative Investigation
Section (“AIS”) within PGCPD’s Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”). At the time, Ms. Zollicoffer
was a Sergeant, and her first-line supervisor was Lieutenant Keisha Powell (“Lt. Powell”).

35.  On October 20, 2017, Lt. Powell instructed Ms. Zollicoffer to investigate an
administrative matter involving an excessive force complaint made by a civilian against two
PGCPD officers. The administrative matter was assigned Internal Affairs Case No. 2017-053
(hereinafter referred to as “IA-2017-053").

36. In February 2018, after Ms. Zollicoffer complained of discrimination within the
IAD and after she filed an EEOC complaint alleging the same, Hector Velez, the Interim Chief
of Police informed Ms. Zollicoffer that she was being immediately transferred to the PGCPD’s
Patrol Bureau. Mr. Valez had previously reassured Ms. Zollicoffer that she would remain in AIS
notwithstanding her discrimination complaints.

37. In April 2018, Lt. Powell asked Ms. Zollicoffer via email if she intended on
taking 1A-2017-053 with her, noting that it was customary to do so. Ms. Zollicoffer informed Lt.
Powell that Captain Art’z Watkins (“Cpt. Watkins™) told her to leave the cases with Lt. Powell.
In response, Lt. Powell advised Ms. Zollicoffer that she was permitted and expected to continue
working on 1A-2017-053.

38.  OnJune 27, 2018, Cpt. Watkins assigned 1A-2017-053 to Sergeant Winston
Wilson (“Sgt. Wilson”). Cpt. Watkins did not inform Lt. Powell or Ms. Zollicoffer that 1A-2017-
053 was being reassigned to Sgt. Wilson. Cpt. Watkins instructed Sgt. Wilson to report directly
and confidentially to him.

39. Captain Watkins did not file any official documentation that would have placed

Lt. Powell or Ms. Zollicoffer on notice that IA-2017-053 had been reassigned to Sgt. Wilson.
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Sgt. Wilson did not file any official documentation that would have placed Lt. Powell or Ms.
Zollicoffer on notice that 1A-2017-053 had been reassigned to him.

40. In July 2018, Sgt. Wilson informed Ms. Zollicoffer that 1A-2017-053 was
returned with a “buck slip” from Major Kathleen Mills, the IAD Commander, with requests that
additional action be taken on the case. Sgt. Wilson sent Ms. Zollicoffer a photograph of the
“buck slip,” which noted concerns about conflicting statements about the reasonableness of the
force used by the officers and missing details in the Mobile Video System (“MVS”).

41. Unaware that Cpt. Watkins had reassigned 1A-2017-053 to Sgt. Wilson, Ms.
Zollicoffer interpreted the communication from Sgt. Wilson as a request for her to further
investigate the concerns raised by Maj. Mills. The communication from Sgt. Wilson to Ms.
Zollicoffer further led Ms. Zollicoffer to believe that IA-2017-053 was still assigned to her.

42.  Shortly after receiving the communication from Sgt. Wilson, Ms. Zollicoffer
viewed the MVS footage. While viewing the MVS footage, she discovered that seven minutes of
the recording was missing. Immediately thereafter, Ms. Zollicoffer contacted Lt. Powell to
confirm whether the copy of MVS footage for IA-2017-053 maintained by AIS in its database
(i.e., IAPro) was complete. Lt. Powell confirmed that a portion of the MV'S footage appeared to
be missing.

43.  On October 16, 2018, Sgt. Wilson and/or Cpt. Watkins closed 1A-2017-053.
Neither Sgt. Wilson nor Cpt. Watkins followed the normal and customary protocols in the AIS
with respect to documenting the closure of 1A-2017-053. Unlike other case closures, there was
no information input into AIS’s database that would have placed Lt. Powell or Ms. Zollicoffer on

notice that the case had been closed.
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44, In a separate proceeding, Lt. Powell testified that she was never informed that Sgt.
Wilson had been assigned to 1A-2017-053, and she further testified that she did not recall signing
the Disciplinary Action Recommendation that supposedly closed 1A-2017-053. Unbeknownst to
Lt. Powell at the time, the Disciplinary Action Recommendation for IA-2017-053 was mixed in
with several other groups of cases that Cpt. Watkins had asked her to sign off on that day.

45.  On several separate occasions between July 18, 2018 and April 12, 2019, Ms.
Zollicoffer requested a complete copy of the MVS footage from Lt. Powell. Despite the requests,
a complete copy of the MVS footage was never produced or received.

46. On April 12, 2019, Ms. Zollicoffer contacted Eliza Windsor in PGCPD’s MVS
Unit to request a complete copy of the MVS footage for IA-2017-053. Ms. Windsor denied the
request, claiming that Ms. Zollicoffer was on a “no-duty” status and no longer assigned to AIS.

47. Ms. Windsor thereafter filed a report against Ms. Zollicoffer to Sergeant Donna
Poole, alleging that Ms. Zollicoffer misrepresented facts in their discussion about her
involvement in 1A-2017-053. Sgt. Poole notified Cpt. Watkins of the report. Upon receiving the
report, Cpt. Watkins opened an investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer, which was assigned case
number SI-2019-077.

48.  Cpt. Watkins transferred the case against Ms. Zollicoffer (i.e., SI-2019-077) to
Defendant Sledgeski, a police officer employed by the Anne Arundel County Police Department.
49.  Onorabout April 21, 2020, based on the results of Defendant Sledgeski’s

investigation, the PGCPD issued a Disciplinary Action Recommendation (“DAR”) to Ms.
Zollicoffer, charging her with the two violations of Department police and/or local law. The

alleged violations were: (1) unbecoming conduct (“Charge 17); and (2) “violations of laws;
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misrepresentation of facts” (“Charge 2°). The DAR proposed termination of Ms. Zollicoffer’s
employment with PGCPD and the imposition of a monetary fine.

50. Defendant Sledgeski’s investigation was not conducted in a neutral or unbiased
manner. From the outset, Defendant Sledgeski intended to recommend Ms. Zollicoffer’s
termination, irrespective of the facts uncovered during the investigation.

51. Upon receiving the DAR, Ms. Zollicoffer objected to the proposed disciplinary
action and requested to be heard before an Administrative Hearing Board (“AHB”). During her
tenure in the IAD, Ms. Zollicoffer never witnessed the PGCPD disciplining an officer for
requesting MVS footage.

52. Defendant FOP assigned Attorney Shaun Owens to represent Ms. Zollicoffer in
the AHB proceedings. At the time, Defendant FOP knew or should have known that Attorney
Owens was simultaneously representing the two officers accused of using excessive force in the
Internal Affairs case (1A-2017-053) that Ms. Zollicoffer had been investigating.

53.  This dual representation created a clear and direct conflict of interest because
Attorney Owens’s duty to zealously represent the accused officers was directly at odds with his
duty to represent Ms. Zollicoffer, who had raised concerns about these officers’ conduct.

54.  On multiple occasions, Ms. Zollicoffer informed Defendant FOP that she objected
to the representation because of the direct conflict. Despite Mr. Zollicoffer's repeated objections,
Defendant FOP refused to assign a different attorney to represent her.

55. On February 25, 2021, the AHB convened to hear Ms. Zollicoffer’s objection.
During the proceeding, Ms. Zollicoffer was only permitted to call three witnesses, which

included herself. The AHB refused Ms. Zollicoffer’s request to offer testimony from several
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other witnesses and refused Ms. Zollicoffer’s request to offer expert witness testimony from
someone who would have fully exonerated her.

56.  On March 1, 2021, the AHB issued an opinion affirming the charges contained
within the DAR. On March 18, 2021, the AHB issued its written report outlining disciplinary
recommendations. As to Charge 1, the AHB recommended that Ms. Zollicoffer be demoted to
the rank of Corporal and be ineligible for a promotion to Sergeant until April 2024. As to Charge
2, the AHB recommended a suspension of 80 hours without pay.

57.  On April 7, 2021, Mr. Velez issued a Final Disciplinary Action adopting the
AHB’s recommended discipline, with an effective date of April 9, 2021.

58.  The Final Disciplinary Action forced Ms. Zollicoffer to choose between: (a)
retiring from the PGCPD as a Corporal, with the ability to retain her pension as a Lieutenant; or
(b) remaining employed at the rank of a Corporal for several years. As a Corporal, Ms.
Zollicoffer would have received half the salary she would have earned as a Lieutenant. Ms.
Zollicoffer felt as though she had no choice but to retire.

59.  Ataminimum, it takes six years for an officer employed by PGCPD to be
promoted to the rank of Corporal to Lieutenant.

60. Ms. Zollicoffer has suffered severe emotional distress as a result of being
demoted and constructively terminated based on the racially biased and unjustified investigation
against her. The stress of losing her employment, combined with the humiliation of being
targeted and treated unfairly due to her race, has caused Ms. Zollicoffer to experience severe

anxiety, depression, and ongoing mental anguish.
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61.  The investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer, together with the related proceedings
before the AHB, have created significant barriers to her ability to seek and obtain future
employment in law enforcement and similar industries.

62.  The disciplinary actions taken against Ms. Zollicoffer, based on unfounded and
racially motivated DAR, have irreparably harmed Ms. Zollicoffer’s professional and personal
reputation. The stigma of being demoted from a Lieutenant to Corporal and that of being forced
to retire under false and discriminatory pretenses has made it difficult for Ms. Zollicoffer to
secure comparable employment with law enforcement or other fields.

COUNT 1
Civil Conspiracy by Defendant Sledgeski to Interfere with Contractual Rights
42 U.S.C. 88 1981 and 1983

63. Ms. Zollicoffer incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 9
through 62, above.

64.  Ms. Zollicoffer is an African American woman who, at all times relevant to this
action, was employed as an officer with the PGCPD, holding contractual rights of employment
with the Department.

65. Defendant Sledgeski was, at all relevant times, employed as an investigator with
the Anne Arundel County Police Department and was assigned to conduct an investigation
related to 1A-2017-053, the internal affairs investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer.

66.  Atall relevant times, Cpt. Watkins was employed by the PGCPD and had

supervisory authority over the internal affairs investigations within the PGCPD, including the

investigation involving 1A-2017-053.
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67.  Asan African American, Ms. Zollicoffer is entitled to the full and equal benefit of
all laws and proceedings, including the right to be free from racial discrimination in the
enforcement of her contractual employment rights, as guaranteed by 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

68. Defendants Sledgeski and Cpt. Watkins conspired together to interfere with Ms.
Zollicoffer’s contractual rights in her employment with PGCPD by engaging in a racially biased,
coordinated effort to manufacture a pretext for her termination, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981,
as enforced through 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

69.  Cpt. Watkins, acting under color of state law, sought to ensure Ms. Zollicoffer’s
termination from PGCPD because of her race as an African American. In furtherance of this
racially motivated goal, Cpt. Watkins orchestrated and directed the investigation into |1A-2017-
053 in such a way as to reach a predetermined conclusion that would result in Ms. Zollicoffer’s
termination.

70. Defendant Sledgeski, acting in concert with and under the direction of Cpt.
Watkins, knowingly and intentionally conducted a biased and improper investigation into I1A-
2017-053. Despite the evidence showing that Ms. Zollicoffer reasonably believed she was still
responsible for handling the internal affairs case, Defendant Sledgeski disregarded this evidence
and conspired with Defendant Watkins to recommend Ms. Zollicoffer’s termination.

71. Defendant Sledgeski, in collaboration with Cpt. Watkins, intentionally ignored
evidence that supported Ms. Zollicoffer’s belief that she was still responsible for IA-2017-053.
Defendant Sledgeski’s investigation was a mere formality, conducted to justify Ms. Zollicoffer’s
termination rather than uncover the truth.

72.  The conspiracy between Defendant Sledgeski and Cpt. Watkins was motivated by

Ms. Zollicoffer’s race as an African American. No other similarly situated officers, particularly
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non-African American officers, were disciplined or terminated for attempting to inquire about
missing MVS video footage.

73.  The actions of Defendant Sledgeski and Cpt. Watkins, acting under color of state
law and in concert with each other, deprived Ms. Zollicoffer of her contractual right to fair and
non-discriminatory treatment in her employment, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

74. Defendant Sledgeski’s actions were willful, malicious, and conducted in reckless
disregard of Ms. Zollicoffer’s rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

75.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendant Sledgeski’s wrongful conduct, Ms.
Zollicoffer was terminated from her position with PGCPD, causing her to suffer significant
economic and non-economic damages.

COUNT 11
Legal Malpractice by Fraternal Order of Police

76. Ms. Zollicoffer incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 9
through 62, above.

77.  Atall relevant times, a fiduciary and attorney-client relationship existed between
Ms. Zollicoffer and Defendant FOP because Defendant FOP undertook to provide legal services
to Ms. Zollicoffer in connection with the proceedings before the AHB. This relationship imposed
upon Defendant FOP a duty to exercise the degree of skill, care, and diligence commonly
exercised by attorneys in similar circumstances.

78. Defendant FOP breached its duty of care to Ms. Zollicoffer in multiple ways,
including:

a) Failing to inform Ms. Zollicoffer about potential claims she could bring against

the PGCPD for retaliation and discrimination, despite her repeated complaints
about such treatment;
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b) Failing to advise Ms. Zollicoffer about the statute of limitations for bringing
retaliation or similar employment claims, causing her to lose valuable legal rights;

c) Failing to provide Ms. Zollicoffer with conflict-free representation, placing its
own interests and the interests of other parties above those of Ms. Zollicoffer; and

d) Assigning Attorney Owens to represent Ms. Zollicoffer with knowledge that
Attorney Owens was simultaneously representing the two officers accused of
using excessive force in the internal affairs case (1A-2017-053) that Ms.
Zollicoffer had been investigating.

79. Despite being fully aware of the terms of the settlement agreement, Defendant
FOP did not inform Ms. Zollicoffer that by accepting the settlement, she would lose the right to
appeal or challenge the pending dispute involving the DAR, the AHB, and 1A-2017-053.

80.  While representing Ms. Zollicoffer, Defendant FOP did not inform her of the
potential claims she could bring against the PGCPD despite her repeated complaints of
discrimination and retaliation. Nor did Defendant FOP inform Ms. Zollicoffer about the statute
of limitations for bringing retaliation or similar employment claims.

81.  Asadirect result of Defendant FOP’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Zollicoffer has and
continues to suffer substantial harm.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Sonya Lancaster Zollicoffer respectfully request that the Court
enter judgment on the Amended Complaint, in her favor and against Defendants Matthew
Sledgeski and the Fraternal Order of Police, Prince George’s County, Maryland, Lodge 89, Inc.,
as follows:

A. Award Ms. Zollicoffer compensatory damages for the harm she suffered as a
result of Defendants’ conduct, in fair and reasonable amount to be determined at trial;

B. Award Plaintiff punitive damages against Defendant Sledgeski, in an amount that

sufficiently punishes, penalizes, and/or deters his unlawful conduct;
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C. Award Ms. Zollicoffer pre-judgment interest and post-judgment interest;
D. Award Ms. Zollicoffer the costs and fees she incurred in connection with this

action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees; and
E. Grant Ms. Zollicoffer such other relief as the Court deems just and proper,

including additional injunctive and declaratory relief as may be required in the interest of justice.

Dated: October 21, 2024

/s/ Jordan D. Howlette
JORDAN D. HOWLETTE
D. Md. Bar No.: 21634
Managing Attorney

JD Howlette Law | Justly Prudent
1140 3rd St. NE
Washington, DC 20002
Tel: (202) 921-6005

Fax: (202) 921-7102
jordan@jdhowlettelaw.com
Counsel for Plaintiff
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March-6,-2024

Defendants.

/

AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Sonya Lancaster Zollicoffer (“Plaintiff’-or“Lanecaster”)-was-employed
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discovering-the-matter—\Watkins-transferred-the-case-to-Sergeant-Zollicoffer”), for her amended
complaint against Defendants Matthew Sledgeski (hereinatter—(“Defendant Sledgeski”) of-the
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Department-and-also-directed-subordinates,—includingand the Fraternal Order of Police, Prince

George’s County, Maryland, Lodge 89, Inc. (“Defendant FOP”), alleges =Sgt=WHson—Eliza
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Meoreover—in-the following-year 2020 Lancasterwas-ehgible-to-sit-for the- Captain’s-exam:

1. For over two decades, Ms. Zollicoffer dedicated her life to serving and protecting

the people of Prince George's County as a police officer. She rose through the ranks, overcoming

systemic racism and sexism, to become one of the few African-American female lieutenants in

the Prince George’s County Police Department (“PGCPD”).

2. But when Ms. Zollicoffer dared to speak out against the ingrained discrimination

and retaliation plaguing the Department, she found herself silenced not by those she sought to

hold accountable, but by the very attorneys entrusted to advocate for her rights. This case lays

bare a disturbing betrayal of justice: a decorated officer, fighting for equality and integrity in law
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enforcement, was strong-armed into settling her righteous claims by those who should have been

her staunchest allies.

3. Ms. Zollicoffer now stands before this Court, not only to reclaim her voice and

her rights, but to expose a system that continues to fail officers of color and the communities

they serve. Her story is not just one of personal injustice, but a critical call to address the deeper,

systemic issues that persist in our institutions of law and order.

4. Ms. Zollicoffer brings this action to seek justice not only for herself but also to

address the broader issues of discrimination and retaliation within the PGCPD, and to hold

accountable those who compromised her rights during the settlement of her prior lawsuit.

5. Ms. Zollicoffer claims arise under the Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871,42 U.S.C. §

1983, and the laws of the State of Maryland.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1343(a)

because this case involves questions of federal law and because Ms. Zollicoffer seeks damages

for violations of her civil rights.

7. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims under

28 U.S.C. § 1367 because the claims form part of the same case or controversy under Article IlI

of the United States Constitution. The state law claims share all common operative facts with

Ms. Zollicoffer’s federal law claims, and the parties are identical. Resolving Ms. Zollicoffer’s

federal and state claims in a single action serves the interests of judicial economy, convenience,

consistency, and fairness to the parties.

8. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Ms. Zollicoffer’s claims herein occurred
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within this judicial district. Venue is also proper in this Court under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3)

because the unlawful employment practices were committed in this judicial district, the relevant

employment records are maintained in this judicial district, and there is no other judicial district

that has substantial connection to Plaintiff’s claims.

THE PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Sonya Lancaster Zollicoffer is an African American female and a former

Lieutenant with the Prince George’s County Police Department. She resides within Prince

George’s County, Maryland.

10. Defendant Matthrew Sledgeski was, at all relevant times, employed by the Anne

Arundel County Police Department. Defendant Sledgeski was assigned to conduct an internal

affairs investigation into a case involving Ms. Zollicoffer. Upon information and belief,

Defendant Sledgeski resides within Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

11. Defendant Fraternal Order of Police, Prince George’s County, Maryland, Lodge

89, Inc. is a labor organization representing law enforcement officers employed by the PGCPD.

As the recognized bargaining unit for PGCPD officers, Defendant FOP is responsible for

providing legal representation to its members in disciplinary proceedings and other employment-

related matters. In this capacity, Defendant FOP assigned legal counsel to represent Ms.

Zollicoffer in her disciplinary proceedings and during portions of her discrimination case.

Defendant FOP’s principal place of business is located at 2905 Old Largo Road, Upper

Marlboro, MD 20772.

Background

12. Ms. Zollicoffer joined the PGCPD in 2001. Despite her exemplary service record,

Ms. Zollicoffer faced numerous instances of race-based discriminatory treatment throughout her
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career. In addition to her own mistreatment, Ms. Zollicoffer witnessed multiple instances of

disparate treatment towards officers of color within the PGCPD by managers and supervisors,

including unfair disciplinary actions, denial or delayed promotions, and racially offensive work

environments.

13. In 2015, Ms. Zollicoffer was transferred to PGCPD’s Internal Affairs Division

(“IAD”), where she observed firsthand the systemic discrimination in PGCPD’s disciplinary

processes against officers of color.

14. When Ms. Zollicoffer spoke out against the discriminatory practices, she faced

negative repercussions, including increased scrutiny of her work, and attempts to undermine her

authority.

15. In 2018, despite her qualifications and experience, Ms. Zollicoffer was

involuntarily transferred out of the IAD to a less desirable position in PGCPD’s Patrol Bureau.

Ms. Zollicoffer was transferred because she spoke out against the IAD’s discriminatory

practices, which included filing a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment

Opportunity Commission.

16. Ms. Zollicoffer’s experiences of discrimination and retaliation were not isolated

incidents, but part of a broader pattern of systemic racism within PGCPD that affected numerous

officers of color.

17. In December 2018, to vindicate her rights and expose the broader pattern of

systemic racism within the PGCPD, Ms. Zollicoffer, together with several other officers of color

employed by the PGCPD, filed a discrimination lawsuit against Prince George’s County,

advancing claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and the
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Rehabilitation Act (HNLEA, et al. v. Prince George’s County, et al., Case No. 8:18-cv-03821)

(hereinafter referred to as the “HNLEA Case”).

18. In the HNLEA Case, Ms. Zollicoffer was represented by Arnold & Porter Kaye

Scholer, LLP (“Arnold & Porter”). Ms. Zollicoffer communicated exclusively with Joanna

Wasik and Dennis Corkery, two attorneys employed by Arnold & Porter.

19. From the beqginning of the lawsuit, Ms. Zollicoffer made clear to Ms. Wasik and

Mr. Corkery that she wanted her case heard by a jury because she believed that a jury trial would

not only vindicate her personal rights but also shine a light on the broader issues of systemic

discrimination within PGCPD.

20. Ms. Zollicoffer repeatedly made clear to Ms. Wasik that she felt that settling the

case would neither adequately address her grievances nor bring about the systemic changes she

sought within PGCPD.

21. Despite her repeated requests, Ms. Zollicoffer was unduly pressured to accept a

settlement offer that she did not want to accept.

The HNLEA Case and the Settlement Procured by Duress

22. On June 29, 2021, the parties in the HNLEA Case participated in a remote

mediation session on Zoom. The mediation concluded without reaching a resolution.

23. Following the conclusion of the mediation, Ms. Zollicoffer was informed by her

attorneys that Prince George’s County had proposed several different settlement offers. In

response to each of the settlement offers, Ms. Zollicoffer made clear that she was not interested

in settling and that she wanted to have her case heard by a jury.

24. On July 7, 2021, the President of HNLEA, Joe Perez, called Ms. Zollicoffer to try

to persuade her to agree to the pending settlement offer. Mr. Perez told Ms. Zollicoffer that the
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other ten plaintiffs had accepted their individual settlement offers, and that Ms. Zollicoffer was

holding up the final settlement agreement. Ms. Zollicoffer told Mr. Perez that she was not

interested in a settlement.

25. On July 9, 2021, Mr. Perez called Ms. Zollicoffer and attempted to persuade her

to accept the settlement offer. Mr. Perez said that “they received everything they wanted” as far

as policy reform, and asked Ms. Zollicoffer to accept the offer so that the matter could “be

brought to an end.” In response, Ms. Zollicoffer again stressed that she was not interested in

accepting a settlement offer and that she wanted to proceed to trial.

26. On July 14, 2021, at approximately 1:00 p.m., Ms. Wasik called Ms. Zollicoffer

and attempted to persuade her to agree to the settlement offer. Ms. Zollicoffer made clear to Ms.

Wasik that she had no interest in entering into a settlement agreement. The phone call lasted a

total of 31 minutes.

27. On July 14, 2021, at approximately 3:56 p.m., Mr. Perez called Ms. Zollicoffer to

persuade her to accept the settlement offer. Upon information and belief, prior to calling Ms.

Zollicoffer, Mr. Perez spoke with Ms. Wasik about Ms. Zollicoffer’s unwillingness to agree to

the County’s settlement offer.

28. On July 15, 2021, at approximately 11:09 a.m., Ms. Wasik called Ms. Zollicoffer

to persuade her to accept the settlement offer. Ms. Wasik informed Ms. Zollicoffer that Prince

George’s County had increased its monetary offer to her specifically, and that with the new

increased amount, Ms. Zollicoffer would be receiving more than any other plaintiff. The phone

call lasted 39 minutes.

29. On July 16, 2021, at approximately 4:55 p.m. and 4:59 p.m., Ms. Wasik attempted

to reach Ms. Zollicoffer to discuss the pending settlement offer. At approximately 9:59 p.m., Ms.
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Wasik spoke with Ms. Zollicoffer and told her that Arnold & Porter would be unable to continue

to represent her from a financial standpoint if she did not settle. In response, Ms. Zollicoffer said,

“So yvou’re forcing me to settle?”” Based on their conversation, Ms. Zollicoffer reluctantly

accepted the settlement offer out of fear that Arnold & Porter would cease representing her in the

lawsuit.

30. Arnold & Porter did not explain to Ms. Zollicoffer that any request to withdraw

from the representation would need to be reviewed and approved by the Court.

31. Arnold & Porter did not explain to Ms. Zollicoffer that the settlement would

preclude her from vindicating her rights in connection with a separate internal investigation case

commenced against her by the PGCPD in 2019 (i.e., SI-2019-077), which was pending at the

time of the settlement. Had Ms. Zollicoffer been informed of such, she would have never agreed

to settle.

32. Arnold & Porter prioritized the expediency of settlement over Ms. Zollicoffer’s

express desire to proceed to trial, without adequately considering or respecting Ms. Zollicoffer’s

legal objectives.

The Unjust Internal Affairs Investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer

33. During the litigation in the HNLEA Case, the PGCPD separately commenced an

Internal Affairs investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer.

34. In October 2017, Ms. Zollicoffer was assigned to the Administrative Investigation

Section (“AIS”) within PGCPD’s Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”). At the time, Ms. Zollicoffer

was a Sergeant, and her first-line supervisor was Lieutenant Keisha Powell (“Lt. Powell™).

35. On October 20, 2017, Lt. Powell instructed Ms. Zollicoffer to investigate an

administrative matter involving an excessive force complaint made by a civilian against two
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PGCPD officers. The administrative matter was assigned Internal Affairs Case No. 2017-053

(hereinafter referred to as “I1A-2017-053).

36. In February 2018, after Ms. Zollicoffer complained of discrimination within the

IAD and after she filed an EEOC complaint alleging the same, Hector Velez, the Interim Chief

of Police informed Ms. Zollicoffer that she was being immediately transferred to the PGCPD’s

Patrol Bureau. Mr. VValez had previously reassured Ms. Zollicoffer that she would remain in AIS

notwithstanding her discrimination complaints.

37. In April 2018, Lt. Powell asked Ms. Zollicoffer via email if she intended on

taking 1A-2017-053 with her, noting that it was customary to do so. Ms. Zollicoffer informed L.

Powell that Captain Art’z Watkins (“Cpt. Watkins™) told her to leave the cases with Lt. Powell.

In response, Lt. Powell advised Ms. Zollicoffer that she was permitted and expected to continue

working on 1A-2017-053.

38. On June 27, 2018, Cpt. Watkins assigned 1A-2017-053 to Sergeant Winston

Wilson (“Sgt. Wilson™). Cpt. Watkins did not inform Lt. Powell or Ms. Zollicoffer that IA-2017-

053 was being reassigned to Sgt. Wilson. Cpt. Watkins instructed Sagt. Wilson to report directly

and confidentially to him.

39. Captain Watkins did not file any official documentation that would have placed

Lt. Powell or Ms. Zollicoffer on notice that 1A-2017-053 had been reassigned to Sgt. Wilson.

Sqgt. Wilson did not file any official documentation that would have placed Lt. Powell or Ms.

Zollicoffer on notice that 1A-2017-053 had been reassigned to him.

40. In July 2018, Sat. Wilson informed Ms. Zollicoffer that 1A-2017-053 was

returned with a “buck slip” from Major Kathleen Mills, the IAD Commander, with requests that

additional action be taken on the case. Sqgt. Wilson sent Ms. Zollicoffer a photograph of the
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“buck slip,” which noted concerns about conflicting statements about the reasonableness of the

force used by the officers and missing details in the Mobile Video System (“MVS”).

41. Unaware that Cpt. Watkins had reassigned 1A-2017-053 to Sgt. Wilson, Ms.

Zollicoffer interpreted the communication from Sqgt. Wilson as a request for her to further

investigate the concerns raised by Maj. Mills. The communication from Sgt. Wilson to Ms.

Zollicoffer further led Ms. Zollicoffer to believe that 1A-2017-053 was still assigned to her.

42. Shortly after receiving the communication from Sqgt. Wilson, Ms. Zollicoffer

viewed the MVS footage. While viewing the MVS footage, she discovered that seven minutes of

the recording was missing. Immediately thereafter, Ms. Zollicoffer contacted Lt. Powell to

confirm whether the copy of MVS footage for IA-2017-053 maintained by AIS in its database

(i.e., IAPro) was complete. Lt. Powell confirmed that a portion of the MV'S footage appeared to

be missing.

43. On October 16, 2018, Sagt. Wilson and/or Cpt. Watkins closed 1A-2017-053.

Neither Sgt. Wilson nor Cpt. Watkins followed the normal and customary protocols in the AIS

with respect to documenting the closure of 1A-2017-053. Unlike other case closures, there was

no information input into AIS’s database that would have placed Lt. Powell or Ms. Zollicoffer on

notice that the case had been closed.

44. In a separate proceeding, Lt. Powell testified that she was never informed that Sqt.

Wilson had been assigned to 1A-2017-053, and she further testified that she did not recall signing

the Disciplinary Action Recommendation that supposedly closed 1A-2017-053. Unbeknownst to

Lt. Powell at the time, the Disciplinary Action Recommendation for 1A-2017-053 was mixed in

with several other groups of cases that Cpt. Watkins had asked her to sign off on that day.
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45. On several separate occasions between July 18, 2018 and April 12, 2019, Ms.

Zollicoffer requested a complete copy of the MVS footage from Lt. Powell. Despite the requests,

a complete copy of the MVS footage was never produced or received.

46. On April 12. 2019, Ms. Zollicoffer contacted Eliza Windsor in PGCPD’s MVS

Unit to request a complete copy of the MVS footage for 1A-2017-053. Ms. Windsor denied the

request, claiming that Ms. Zollicoffer was on a “no-duty” status and no longer assigned to AIS.

Ms. Windsor thereafter filed a report against Ms. Zollicoffer to Sergeant Donna Poole,

alleging that Ms. Zollicoffer misrepresented facts in their discussion about her involvement in 1A-

47.  Maryland-Commeon-LawPoole notified Cpt. Watkins of the report. Upon receiving

the report, Cpt. Watkins opened an investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer, which was assigned

case number S1-2019-077.

48. Cpt. Watkins transferred the case against Ms. Zollicoffer (i.e., SI-2019-077) to

Defendant Sledgeski, a police officer employed by the Anne Arundel County Police Department.

49. On or about April 21, 2020, based on the results of Defendant Sledgeski’s

investigation, the PGCPD issued a Disciplinary Action Recommendation (“DAR”) to Ms.

Zollicoffer, charging her with the two violations of Department police and/or local law. The
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alleged violations were: (1) unbecoming conduct (“Charge 17); and (2) “violations of laws:

misrepresentation of facts” (“Charge 2”"). The DAR proposed termination of Ms. Zollicoffer’s

employment with PGCPD and the imposition of a monetary fine.

50. Defendant Sledgeski’s investigation was not conducted in a neutral or unbiased

manner. From the outset, Defendant Sledgeski intended to recommend Ms. Zollicoffer’s

termination, irrespective of the facts uncovered during the investigation.

51. Upon receiving the DAR, Ms. Zollicoffer objected to the proposed disciplinary

action and requested to be heard before an Administrative Hearing Board (“AHB”). During her

tenure in the IAD, Ms. Zollicoffer never witnessed the PGCPD disciplining an officer for

requesting MVS footage.

52. Defendant FOP assigned Attorney Shaun Owens to represent Ms. Zollicoffer in

the AHB proceedings. At the time, Defendant FOP knew or should have known that Attorney

Owens was simultaneously representing the two officers accused of using excessive force in the

Internal Affairs case (I1A-2017-053) that Ms. Zollicoffer had been investigating.

53. This dual representation created a clear and direct conflict of interest because

Attorney Owens’s duty to zealously represent the accused officers was directly at odds with his

duty to represent Ms. Zollicoffer, who had raised concerns about these officers’ conduct.

54, On multiple occasions, Ms. Zollicoffer informed Defendant FOP that she objected

to the representation because of the direct conflict. Despite Mr. Zollicoffer's repeated objections,

Defendant FOP refused to assign a different attorney to represent her.

55. On February 25, 2021, the AHB convened to hear Ms. Zollicoffer’s objection.

During the proceeding, Ms. Zollicoffer was only permitted to call three witnesses, which

included herself. The AHB refused Ms. Zollicoffer’s request to offer testimony from several
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other witnesses and refused Ms. Zollicoffer’s request to offer expert witness testimony from

someone who would have fully exonerated her.

56. On March 1, 2021, the AHB issued an opinion affirming the charges contained

within the DAR. On March 18, 2021, the AHB issued its written report outlining disciplinary

recommendations. As to Charge 1, the AHB recommended that Ms. Zollicoffer be demoted to

the rank of Corporal and be ineligible for a promotion to Sergeant until April 2024. As to Charge

2, the AHB recommended a suspension of 80 hours without pay.

57. On April 7, 2021, Mr. Velez issued a Final Disciplinary Action adopting the

AHB’s recommended discipline, with an effective date of April 9, 2021.

58. The Final Disciplinary Action forced Ms. Zollicoffer to choose between: (a)

retiring from the PGCPD as a Corporal, with the ability to retain her pension as a Lieutenant; or

(b) remaining employed at the rank of a Corporal for several years. As a Corporal, Ms.

Zollicoffer would have received half the salary she would have earned as a Lieutenant. Ms.

Zollicoffer felt as though she had no choice but to retire.

59. At a minimum, it takes six years for an officer employed by PGCPD to be

promoted to the rank of Corporal to Lieutenant.

60. Ms. Zollicoffer has suffered severe emotional distress as a result of being

demoted and constructively terminated based on the racially biased and unjustified investigation

against her. The stress of losing her employment, combined with the humiliation of being

targeted and treated unfairly due to her race, has caused Ms. Zollicoffer to experience severe

anxiety, depression, and ongoing mental anquish.
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61. The investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer, together with the related proceedings

before the AHB, have created significant barriers to her ability to seek and obtain future

employment in law enforcement and similar industries.

62. The disciplinary actions taken against Ms. Zollicoffer, based on unfounded and

racially motivated DAR, have irreparably harmed Ms. Zollicoffer’s professional and personal

reputation. The stigma of being demoted from a Lieutenant to Corporal and that of being forced

to retire under false and discriminatory pretenses has made it difficult for Ms. Zollicoffer to

secure comparable employment with law enforcement or other fields.

COUNT I
Civil Conspiracy by Defendant Sledgeski to Interfere with Contractual Rights

Plaintiff realleges;reaffirms;42 U.S.C. 88 1981 and 1983

112.63. Ms. Zollicoffer incorporates by-+eferenceherein the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 19 through 106-as-Hfuky-setforth-herein62, above.
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64. ME——Ms. Zollicoffer is an African American woman who, at all times relevant

to this action, was employed as an officer with the PGCPD, holding contractual rights of

employment with the Department.

65. Defendant Sledgeski was, at all relevant times, employed as an investigator with

the Anne Arundel County Police Department and was assigned to conduct an investigation

related to 1A-2017-053, the internal affairs investigation against Ms. Zollicoffer.

66. At all relevant times, Cpt. Watkins was employed by the PGCPD and had

supervisory authority over the internal affairs investigations within the PGCPD, including the

investigation involving 1A-2017-053.

67. As an African American, Ms. Zollicoffer is entitled to the full and equal benefit of

all laws and proceedings, including the right to be free from racial discrimination in the

enforcement of her contractual employment rights, as guaranteed by 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

68. Defendants Sledgeski and Cpt. Watkins conspired together to interfere with Ms.

Zollicoffer’s contractual rights in her employment with PGCPD by engaging in a racially biased,

coordinated effort to manufacture a pretext for her termination, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981,

as enforced through 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

69. Cpt. Watkins, acting under color of state law, sought to ensure Ms. Zollicoffer’s

termination from PGCPD because of her race as an African American. In furtherance of this

racially motivated goal, Cpt. Watkins orchestrated and directed the investigation into 1A-2017-

053 in such a way as to reach a predetermined conclusion that would result in Ms. Zollicoffer’s

termination.
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70. Defendant Sledgeski, acting in concert with and under the direction of Cpt.

Watkins, knowingly and intentionally conducted a biased and improper investigation into 1A-

2017-053. Despite the evidence showing that Ms. Zollicoffer reasonably believed she was still

responsible for handling the internal affairs case, Defendant Sledgeski disregarded this evidence

and conspired with Defendant Watkins to recommend Ms. Zollicoffer’s termination.

71. Defendant Sledgeski, in collaboration with Cpt. Watkins, intentionally ignored

evidence that supported Ms. Zollicoffer’s belief that she was still responsible for IA-2017-053.

Defendant Sledgeski’s investigation was a mere formality, conducted to justify Ms. Zollicoffer’s

termination rather than uncover the truth.

712. The conspiracy between Defendant Sledgeski and Cpt. Watkins was motivated by

Ms. Zollicoffer’s race as an African American. No other similarly situated officers, particularly

non-African American officers, were disciplined or terminated for attempting to inquire about

missing MVS video footage.

73. The actions of Defendant Sledgeski and Cpt. Watkins, acting under color of state

law and in concert with each other, deprived Ms. Zollicoffer of her contractual right to fair and

non-discriminatory treatment in her employment, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

74. Defendant Sledgeski’s actions were willful, malicious, and conducted in reckless

disregard of Ms. Zollicoffer’s rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

75. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Sledgeski’s wrongful conduct, Ms.

Zollicoffer was terminated from her position with PGCPD, causing her to suffer significant

economic and non-economic damages.

COUNT II
Legal Malpractice by Fraternal Order of Police
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76. Ms. Zollicoffer incorporates herein the allegations set forth in paragraphs 9

through 62, above.

77. At all relevant times, a fiduciary and attorney-client relationship existed between

Ms. Zollicoffer and Defendant FOP because Defendant FOP undertook to provide legal services

to Ms. Zollicoffer in connection with the proceedings before the AHB. This relationship imposed

upon Defendant FOP a duty to exercise the degree of skill, care, and diligence commonly

exercised by attorneys in similar circumstances.

78. Defendant FOP breached its duty of care to Ms. Zollicoffer in multiple ways,

including:

a) Failing to inform Ms. Zollicoffer about potential claims she could bring against
the PGCPD for retaliation and discrimination, despite her repeated complaints
about such treatment;

b) Failing to advise Ms. Zollicoffer about the statute of limitations for bringing
retaliation or similar employment claims, causing her to lose valuable legal rights;

¢) Failing to provide Ms. Zollicoffer with conflict-free representation, placing its
own interests and the interests of other parties above those of Ms. Zollicoffer; and

d) Assigning Attorney Owens to represent Ms. Zollicoffer with knowledge that
Attorney Owens was simultaneously representing the two officers accused of
using excessive force in the internal affairs case (I1A-2017-053) that Ms.
Zollicoffer had been investigating.

79. Despite being fully aware of the terms of the settlement agreement, Defendant

FOP did not inform Ms. Zollicoffer that by accepting the settlement, she would lose the right to

appeal or challenge the pending dispute involving the DAR, the AHB, and 1A-2017-053.

80. While representing Ms. Zollicoffer, Defendant FOP did not inform her of the

potential claims she could bring against the PGCPD despite her repeated complaints of

discrimination and retaliation. Nor did Defendant FOP inform Ms. Zollicoffer about the statute

of limitations for bringing retaliation or similar employment claims.
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81. As a direct result of Defendant FOP’s wrongful conduct, Ms. Zollicoffer has and

continues to suffer substantial harm.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Sonya Lancaster Zollicoffer respectfully praysrequest that

thisthe Court:

Assumejurisdiction enter judgment on the Amended Complaint, in her favor and against

Defendants Matthew Sledgeski and the Fraternal Order of this-ease—Police, Prince George’s

County, Maryland, Lodge 89, Inc., as follows:

A. Award Ms. Zollicoffer compensatory damages for the harm she suffered as a

result of Defendants’ conduct, in fair and reasonable amount to be determined at trial;

gg. Award statutory damages of atleast — $500,000.

£B.  FertreblePlaintiff punitive damages against Defendant Sledgeski, in the-sum-of—

$17.104-801-an amount that sufficiently punishes, penalizes, and/or deters his

unlawful conduct;

C. Award Ms. Zollicoffer pre-judgment interest and post-judgment interest;

D. Award Ms. Zollicoffer the costs and fees she incurred in connection with this

action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees: and

gE.  Grant Ms. Zollicoffer such other relief as the Court deems appropriate—just and

proper, including additional injunctive and declaratory relief as may be required in the interest of

justice.
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Dated: October 21, 2024

/s/ Jordan D. Howlette

JORDAN D. HOWLETTE
D. Md. JURY-TRIAL

Bar No.: 21634

Managing Attorney

JD Howlette Law | Justly Prudent

1140 3rd St. NE

Washington, DC 20002

Tel: (202) 921-6005

Fax: (202) 921-7102

jordan@jdhowlettelaw.com

Counsel for Plaintiff-herebyreguests
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Digtrict of Maryland

SONYA LANCASTER ZOLLICOFFER,

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 8:24-cv-00679-TDC

MATTHEW SLEDGESKI, et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) MATTHEW SLEDGESKI
2660 Riva Road, 4th Floor
Annapolis, MD 21401

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Jordan D. Howlette

Managing Attorney

JD Howlette Law

1140 3rd St. NE, Washington, DC 20002
Tel: (202) 921-6005

Email: jordan@jdhowlettelaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 8:24-cv-00679-TDC

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Digtrict of Maryland

SONYA LANCASTER ZOLLICOFFER,

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 8:24-cv-00679-TDC

MATTHEW SLEDGESKI, et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, PRINCE GEORGE'S COUNTY, MD
LODGE 89, INC.
2905 Old Largo Road
Upper Marlboro, MD 20772

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Jordan D. Howlette

Managing Attorney

JD Howlette Law

1140 3rd St. NE, Washington, DC 20002
Tel: (202) 921-6005

Email: jordan@jdhowlettelaw.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 8:24-cv-00679-TDC

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

3 1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because por
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

i Seers |
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